Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-1-2016

Estate of Stahl v. Idaho State Tax Com'n Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43832

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is purely a matter of statutory interpretation. As explained below, the Idaho Income Tax Act, I.C. §¹ 63-3001 *et seq.* (the "Idaho Act")² requires taxpayers to calculate their 2012 Idaho taxable income pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as it existed on January 1, 2012 ("IRC").³ That version of the IRC sets the income tax basis of an asset owned by a decedent at its date-of-death value pursuant to IRC § 1014. Nonetheless, the Idaho State Tax Commission (the "Commission") insists that the "carryover basis" rules previously contained in IRC § 1022 between June 1, 2001 and December 17, 2010 ("Repealed § 1022") govern despite having been retroactively repealed from the IRC on December 17, 2010.⁴ The Commission relies primarily on the Estate's use of a federal uncodified election (the "Public Law Election") provided at § 301(c) ("TRUIRJCA § 301(c)") of the Tax Relief, Unemployment Insurance Reauthorization, and Job Creation Act of 2010, Pub. L. No. 111-312, 124 Stat. 3296 ("TRUIRJCA"), which provided the

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, references to sections ("§") refer to sections of the Idaho Code or the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 2012. However, references to "§ 1022" refer to § 1022 of the Internal Revenue Code as it existed for the years 2001-2009, before it was retroactively repealed on December 17, 2010.

² Except where otherwise specified, all references to the "Idaho Act" are to the Idaho Income Tax Act, I.C. § 63-3001 *et. seq.* as amended and in effect during the 2012 calendar year, which was the year of the Estate's sale of the real property at issue.

³ Unless otherwise indicated, references to "the Internal Revenue Code of 1986" and "IRC" refer to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 2012.
⁴ Section 301(a) of Public Law 111-312 repealed § 1022 of the Internal Revenue Code on December 17, 2010. As indicated in Section 301(a) of Public Law 111-312, the repeal of § 1022 of the Internal Revenue Code applies "as if [§ 1022] had never been enacted." (Emphasis added).

Estate relief from the <u>federal</u> estate tax in exchange for calculating its <u>federal</u> income tax with the carryover basis rules of Repealed § 1022. As explained below, the Estate denies that Repealed § 1022 and the Public Law Election were incorporated into the Idaho Act on January 1, 2012.

B. Course of Proceedings.

On June 26, 2015, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. (Clerk's Record on Appeal (hereinafter referred to as the "R.") at 000042, 000101.) The District Court heard oral argument on July 23, 2015. On July 31, 2015, the District Court issued a Memorandum Decision and Order on Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment (the "Memorandum Decision"), granting summary judgment to the Commission and entered Judgment on August 21, 2015. (R. at 000229, 244.) The Estate timely moved for Reconsideration and for Amendment of Judgment on September 3, 2015. (R. at 000246.) After initial briefing, the District Court ordered supplemental briefs analyzing whether a statutory note to Title 26 of the United States Code ("Title 26") should be regarded as part of Title 26 for purposes of the Idaho Act. (R. at 000303.) After reviewing the parties' supplemental briefs, the District Court issued a Memorandum Decision and Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration and Amendment of Judgment ("Reconsidered Decision") on November 16, 2015. (R. at 000330.) On December 23, 2015, the Estate timely filed a Notice of Appeal of that decision as well as the District Court's Judgment. (R. at 000359.)

C. Statement of Facts.

Zippora Stahl ("Mrs. Stahl") died on June 26, 2010 while domiciled in Jerome County, Idaho. (R. at 000006, 000044.) At the time of her death, Mrs. Stahl owned an interest in

appreciated real estate located in Chino, California (the "Ranch"). (R. at 000045.) As part of the Estate's probate proceeding in California, the fair market value of the Ranch on the date of Mrs. Stahl's death was determined to be \$16,000,000. *Id*.

On January 17, 2012, the Estate filed Federal Form 8939 with the Internal Revenue Service electing, pursuant to the Public Law Election, to be relieved from paying the federal estate tax that would otherwise have been imposed by the federal government on the estates of decedents dying in 2010. (R. at 000045, 000300-302.) The State of Idaho has not imposed any form of estate or inheritance tax on the estates of Idaho decedents since 2004.⁵ Therefore, the Estate's filing of the Public Law Election produced a federal tax benefit but no Idaho tax benefit.

The Estate sold the Ranch on December 21, 2012 for \$16,318,909. (R. at 000045.) On April 15, 2013, the Estate filed an IRS Form 1041 reflecting \$14,372,420.00 in federal gain from the sale of the Ranch, as required by the Public Law Election, and paid the requisite federal income taxes thereon. (R. at 000018-19.) Contemporaneously, the Estate filed Idaho Form 66 for tax year 2012 mistakenly reporting \$14,872,219.00 of Idaho adjusted income and \$1,029,107.00 of total Idaho tax liability resulting from the sale of the Ranch, which the Estate timely paid. (R. at 000049.) On September 26, 2013, the Estate filed Amended Form 66 reporting \$309,469.00 of Idaho adjusted income and \$2,672.00 of total Idaho tax liability, and requesting a refund of

⁵ Technically, the State of Idaho imposes an estate tax equal in amount to the credit for state death taxes allowed by IRC § 2011. However, no credit for state death taxes has been allowed pursuant to IRC § 2011 since December 31, 2004. Therefore, the maximum estate tax levied by the State of Idaho is \$0.00. See I.C. § 14-403; IRC § 2011(f) (repealed).

\$1,026,435.00 of the 2012 Idaho income taxes previously paid. (R. at 000046.) After the Commission denied the refund request, the Estate filed its complaint with the District Court in the above matter on January 6, 2015. (R. at 000005-9.)

II. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL</u>

- 1. Whether, as discussed in Section IV.B of this brief, I.C. § 63-3011B requires the Estate to calculate its 2012 "taxable income" in accordance with the IRC including § 1014 or, as discussed in Section IV.C.1 of this brief, in accordance with the carryover basis rules of Repealed § 1022.
- 2. Whether, as discussed in Section IV.C.2 of this brief, the version of I.C. § 63-3004 in effect for the 2012 tax year incorporates into its definition of "Internal Revenue Code" the uncodified Public Law Election set forth in TRUIRJCA § 301(c).

III. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

The Estate requests an award of attorney fees and costs on appeal pursuant to I.C. § 63-3049(d) and Rules 40 and 41 of the Idaho Appellate Rules.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

"This Court reviews questions of law de novo." State v. Moore, 131 Idaho 814, 823 (1998) (citing Hummer v. Evans, 129 Idaho 274 (1996)); see also Hummer, 129 Idaho at 279 ("On issues of law, this Court exercises free review."). Statutory interpretation, in particular, is "a question of law this Court reviews de novo." State v. Schultz, 151 Idaho 863, 865 (2011) (citing State v. Anderson, 145 Idaho 99 (2008)). Here, the District Court noted that the parties "do not dispute the facts" and

that "the party whose legal position is correct, in light of the agreed facts, [was] entitled to summary judgment." (R. at 000236.) As matters of statutory interpretation, which is a question of law, the District Court's Memorandum Decision and Reconsidered Decision are subject to de novo review.

B. The Estate's Idaho Taxable Income for 2012 Is Calculated Pursuant to the IRC Including § 1014.

As discussed in the following Section IV.B.1 of this brief, the Idaho Act requires the Estate to determine its "Idaho taxable income" by first determining its taxable income pursuant to the "Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 2012." As discussed below in Section IV.B.2 of this brief, I.C. § 63-3004's clear and unambiguous definition of the IRC unsurprisingly incorporates into the Idaho Act only the statutory text of the IRC. Finally, Section IV.B.3 of this brief explains how the Idaho Act requires the Estate to calculate its taxable income pursuant to the IRC including IRC § 1014.

1. The Idaho Act Requires the Estate to Determine Its "Idaho Taxable Income" by First Determining Its Taxable Income under the IRC.

The Idaho Act imposes a tax on the Estate's "Idaho taxable income." I.C. § 63-3024. Through a series of related statutes under the Idaho Act and as previously recognized by this Court and the Idaho Attorney General, federal taxable income as determined under the IRC is the starting point for determining the Estate's "Idaho taxable income."

First, I.C. § 63-3011C defines "Idaho taxable income" as "<u>taxable income</u> as modified pursuant to the Idaho adjustments specifically provided in [the Idaho Act]." (Emphasis added). Next, Idaho Code § 63-3011B defines "taxable income" as "federal taxable income <u>as determined</u>

under the Internal Revenue Code." (Emphasis added). Finally, I.C. § 63-3004, as in effect for 2012,6 defines "Internal Revenue Code" as "the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 2012." (Emphasis added). This plain and unambiguous statutory language clearly requires the Estate to use its federal taxable income "as determined under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 2012" as the starting point for calculating its "Idaho taxable income."

This Court has recognized that very point multiple times. For example, this Court stated that "[t]axable' income is defined as 'federal taxable income as determined under the Internal Revenue Code'." *Idaho State Tax Comm'n v. Robert A. and Mary L. Stang*, 135 Idaho 800, 802 (2001). Likewise, this Court indicated that "Idaho incorporates the Federal Internal Revenue Code by reference." *Houston v. Idaho State Tax Commission*, 126 Idaho 718, 720 (1995). Furthermore, this Court has stated that "[w]e agree... that the intent of the legislature is to make, 'insofar as possible ... the provisions of the Idaho act identical to the provisions of the Federal Internal Revenue Code relating to the measurement of taxable income." *J.R. Simplot Co. v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n*, 120 Idaho 849, 866 (1991) (quoting I.C. § 63-3002).

Consistent with the Idaho Act's and this Court's clear recognition that federal taxable income as determined under the IRC is the starting point for determining a taxpayer's "Idaho taxable income," the Idaho Attorney General addressed a 1995 Opinion to the Commission that cogently

⁶ The Idaho Legislature amends I.C. § 63-3004 every year to incorporate recent amendments to the IRC. See House Bill No. 355, vol. 1, c. 2, approved February 6, 2012.

explains this concept. In that opinion, the Idaho Attorney General responded to the Commission's inquiry as to whether a provision of the 1995 Self-Employed Health Insurance Act ("SEHIA") Pub. L. No. 104-7, 109 Stat. 93, that retroactively provided a deduction for health insurance costs under § 162(1)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code, was incorporated into the Idaho Act by I.C. § 63-3004. 1995 Idaho Op. Atty. Gen. 11, Idaho Op. Atty. Gen. No. 95-2, 1995 WL 247938. The Attorney General noted that President Clinton signed SEHIA into law on April 11, 1995, which is after the January 1, 1995 effective date (and the enactment date) of Idaho's then-latest amendment to I.C. § 63-3004 incorporating the Internal Revenue Code "as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 1995." Id. The Attorney General advised that "[t]he Internal Revenue Code 'as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 1995' did not permit [the] deduction" because the § 162(I)(6) deduction was not part of the Internal Revenue Code on January 1, 1995 and, therefore, was "not a deduction available for the computation of Idaho taxes under present Idaho law." Id. Accordingly, the Idaho Attorney General instructed the Commission that the SEHIA provisions allowing the deduction were not incorporated into Idaho law by I.C. § 63-3004 and, therefore, unavailable to Idaho taxpayers calculating their 1994 Idaho taxable incomes. *Id.*

2. <u>I.C. § 63-3004's Clear and Unambiguous Definition of the IRC Incorporates into the Idaho Act Only the Statutory Text of the IRC.</u>

As noted, the first step in calculating the Estate's "Idaho taxable income" is the determination of the Estate's federal taxable income pursuant to the IRC. Therefore, this Court must determine precisely which provisions of federal tax law comprise the body of law the Idaho

Legislature refers to in I.C. § 63-3004 as "the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended, and in effect on the first day of January, 2012."

Idaho law governing statutory interpretation is clear. This Court has recently stated that because the "best guide to legislative intent is the words of the statute itself, the interpretation of a statute must begin with the literal words of the statute." *Gordon v. Hedrick*, 159 Idaho 604 (2015). Furthermore, as stated by this Court in *Hillcrest Haven Convalescent Ctr. v. Idaho Dept. of Health and Welfare*, 142 Idaho 123, 125 (2005), "[i]f a statute is clear on its face, it is unnecessary to engage the tools of statutory construction." In other words, "[i]f the statute is not ambiguous, this Court does not construe it, but simply follows the law as written." *Verska v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 893 (2011). Finally, this Court also noted that "the interpretation of a statute must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole." *Verska*, 151 Idaho at 893.

As explained below, the plain, usual, and ordinary meaning of the words "Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended and in effect of the first day of January, 2012" includes only those federal statutes that the U.S. Congress has included in the IRC's statutory text. Although that states the obvious, it is important to explain in detail why this is so because, as explained in Section IV.C of this brief, the District Court ruled that I.C. § 63-3004 incorporates into the Idaho Act provisions of federal law that are not part of the IRC. Accordingly, Sections IV.B.2.a through IV.B.2.c of this brief discuss the evolution of the IRC from its origin in the Revenue Act of 1939 and the Internal Revenue Title of 1954. Section IV.B.2.d of this brief then

analyzes the history of IRC § 7701(a)(29)'s definition of the IRC. Section IV.B.2.e of this brief further explains the relationship of the IRC to Title 26 and the concept of "positive law" as their sole distinguishing feature. Section IV.B.2.f of this brief then describes Congress' "stated means" for amending the IRC. Finally, Section IV.B.2.g concludes this Section IV.B with a discussion of why the plain, usual and ordinary meaning of the IRC incorporates only the statutory text of IRC §§ 1-9834 into the Idaho Act.

a. The Sixteenth Amendment and the Revenue Act of 1939.

The Sixteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, which permitted the federal government to levy an income tax, became part of the United States Constitution on February 25, 1913. U.S. Const. amend. XVI. Within months of the amendment's ratification, Congress passed the Revenue Act of 1913 which imposed a federal tax on the income of individuals. Boris Bittker & Lawrence Lokken, *Federal Taxation of Income, Estates, and Gifts* ¶ 1.1.5. From 1913 until 1939, federal income tax provisions were scattered through numerous volumes of the U.S. Statutes at Large. *Id.* The Revenue Act of 1939 consolidated and codified those federal income tax provisions into the Internal Revenue Code of 1939. *Id.* Except to the extent that specific provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939 were amended, it remained intact until 1954.

b. The Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1954 was first set forth as an Act of Congress in H. R. 8300 (the "1954 Revenue Act") that was signed into law on August 16, 1954. *See* Internal Revenue Act of 1954, Pub. L. No. 83-591, 68A Stat., *available at* https://bulk.resource.org/gao.gov/83-591/00002F8A.pdf,

a portion of which is attached hereto as <u>Appendix A</u>; see also 1 U.S.C. § 204 (note) (entitled "Title 26, Internal Revenue Code."). The Internal Revenue Code of 1954 supplanted the Internal Revenue Code of 1939. See Bittker & Lokken, supra, at ¶ 1.1.5. Section (a)(1) of the 1954 Revenue Act specifically provides that the "provisions of this Act set forth under the heading 'Internal Revenue Title' may be cited as the "Internal Revenue Code of 1954." See The Internal Revenue Act of 1954, Pub. L. No. 83-591, 68A Stat., available at https://bulk.resource.org/gao.gov/83-591/00002F8A.pdf (emphasis added). Section (d) of the 1954 Revenue Act, titled "Enactment of Internal Revenue Title Into Law", provides that "[t]he Internal Revenue Title referred to in subsection (a)(1) is as follows:". Id. What follows that colon is a summary of the Internal Revenue Title's subtitles A through G. Id. Those subtitles are comprised exclusively of Sections 1 through 8023 which are in turn comprised of subsections all of which are set forth in the 1954 Revenue Act following the aforementioned colon. Id. Importantly, at page 807 of the 1954 Revenue Act, paragraph 29 of subsection 7701(a) provides the following definition of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954:

(29) Internal Revenue Code. The term "Internal Revenue Code of 1954" means **this title**, and the term "Internal Revenue Code of 1939" means the Internal Revenue Code enacted February 10, 1939, as amended.

(Emphasis added). Thus, Congress clearly defined the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as being comprised exclusively of "this title". The words "this title" appears within the text of the Internal Revenue Title of 1954 which, as clearly stated at Section (d) of the 1954 Revenue Act, is comprised

⁷ The provisions comprising the 1954 Revenue Act, Subpart through Subsection, as such provisions are subsequently amended are referred to herein as "statutory text."

exclusively of the 1954 Revenue Act's statutory text: Subtitles (largest subdivision) to Subsection (smallest subdivision).⁸ Accordingly, the term "Internal Revenue Code of 1954" was clearly defined by Congress as consisting of the statutory text (Subtitles through Subsections) of the 1954 Revenue Act.

c. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

The term "Internal Revenue Code of 1986" first appears in Public Law 99-514, dated October 22, 1986 (the "Internal Revenue Act of 1986"). Section 2(a) of the Internal Revenue Act of 1986 unambiguously states as follows:

(a) REDESIGNATION OF 1954 CODE. – The <u>Internal Revenue Title enacted</u> <u>August 16, 1954</u>, as <u>heretofore, hereby or hereafter amended</u>, may be cited as the '<u>Internal Revenue Code of 1986</u>.'

(Emphasis added). Therefore, "Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended" is clearly defined as consisting of the statutory text of the Internal Revenue Title of 1954 as such text is specifically amended by Congress (including the 1986 name change to "Internal Revenue Code of 1986"). In other words, Congress created the group of laws it defined as the "Internal Revenue Code of 1986" and specifically defined that group of laws as consisting only of the statutory text originally set forth as the Internal Revenue Title of 1954 and amendments to that statutory text enacted by Congress after August 16, 1954.

d. 1987 Amendment to IRC § 7701(a)(29)'s Definition of the IRC.

Two years after the Internal Revenue Act of 1986 redesignated the "Internal Revenue Title of 1954" as the "Internal Revenue Code of 1986," Congress amended IRC § 7701(a)(29) (formerly § 7701(a)(29) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954). Prior to November 10, 1988, IRC § 7701(a)(29)

⁸ The Internal Revenue Code continues to be organized in the same manner today as it is organized into subtitles, chapters, subchapters, parts, subparts, sections and subsections.

remained unchanged from the version first enacted as part of the 1954 Revenue Act. As noted, that version of IRC § 7701(a)(29) stated as follows:

(29) Internal Revenue Code. The term "Internal Revenue Code of 1954" means <u>this</u> <u>title</u>, and the term "Internal Revenue Code of 1939" means the Internal Revenue Code enacted February 10, 1939, as amended.

(Emphasis added). As also noted, that version of IRC § 7701(a)(29) was enacted as part of the Internal Revenue Title of 1954 and the words "this title" refer to the Internal Revenue Title of 1954. Thereafter, Section 1(c) of the Technical and Miscellaneous Revenue Act of 1988 provided a "clerical amendment" that replaced IRC § 7701(a)(29)'s reference to the year "1954" with the year "1986." Pub. L. No. 100-647, 102 Stat. 3342. As a result of the Section 1(c) amendment, IRC § 7701(a)(29) states as follows:

(29) Internal Revenue Code. The term "Internal Revenue Code of 1986" means **this title**, and the term "Internal Revenue Code of 1939" means the Internal Revenue Code enacted February 10, 1939, as amended.

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