Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-30-2016

Estate of Stahl v. Idaho State Tax Com'n Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43832

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

actual text of Internal Revenue Code of 1986." But this is language that is simply not in the statute.

Thus, the holding below was correct: "Section 1022 of the Internal Revenue Code—not some 'off-code' provision—required the Estate to use the modified carryover basis. Despite Section 1022's 'repeal' in 2010, it was very much alive and in effect in 2012 with respect to the Estate because the Estate had made the Section 1022 Election." Memo. Dec., R., p. 237. At the end of the day, it was a provision of the Internal Revenue Code—Section 1022—that determined that the Estate use a modified carryover basis, it was not some "off-code" provision that determined the Estate's basis. And, as explained above, "Idaho's income tax statutes plainly require [the Estate to use the] same basis" to calculate its Idaho taxable income. Memo. Dec., R., p. 237.

The "repeal" of Section 1022 does not apply to the Estate because the law allowed the Estate to make the Section 1022 Election. And it actually made the election under Section 1022 of the Internal Revenue Code. Thus, the District Court was correct in holding that "there is no sensible way of regarding Section 1022 as other than 'in effect' with respect to the Estate." Memo. Dec., R., p. 240.³

As the District Court explained, "[t]o the limited extent it was not abrogated, Section 1022 remains in force as a matter of TRUIRJCA's plain language. *See also*, 1 U.S.C. § 109 ('The repeal of any statute shall not have the effect to release or extinguish any penalty, forfeiture, or liability incurred under such statute, unless the repealing Act shall so expressly provide, and *such statute shall be treated as still remaining in force* for the purpose of sustaining any proper action

³ As the District Court put it: "Indeed, "repeal" means "[a]brogation of existing law by express legislative act." *Black's Law Dictionary* 1490 (10th ed. 2014). But Section 1022 was not completely abrogated; it was abrogated *except* with respect to property acquired from decedents whose estates made the Section 1022 Election, as the Estate did." Memo. Dec., R., p. 240 (emphasis in original).

or prosecution for the enforcement of such penalty, forfeiture, or liability')." Memo. Dec., R., p. 240 (emphasis in original). The District Court was correct that the "term 'Internal Revenue Code,' as defined in I.C. § 63-3004, *includes* Section 1022 insofar as the Estate (among other estates that made the Section 1022 Election) is concerned." Memo. Dec., R., p. 240 (emphasis in original).

In summary, it was a provision of "the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 in effect" that dictated the Estate's basis and therefore its federal taxable income. Therefore, Idaho law requires that the Estate use the identical basis and taxable income when reporting to Idaho.

Finally, we note that it is inconsistent for the Estate to actually use the mechanism of Section 1022 of the Internal Revenue Code to determine its basis (and consequently its federal taxable income), but then claim that Section 1022 was not "in effect" (within the meaning of I.C. § 63-3004) when reporting its Idaho taxable income. The Estate may not claim that it was some "off-code" provision that determined its basis. The Idaho Income Tax Act plainly requires the Estate to use the same basis to calculate its Idaho taxable income, as it used to calculate its federal taxable income.

B. The "off-code" provision, TRUIRJCA § 301(c), is part of Title 26, U.S.C., as a statutory note, and was incorporated into the Idaho Income Tax Act.

The "off-code" provision the Estate relies upon, TRUIRJCA § 301(c), was actually incorporated into the Idaho Income Tax Act. In other words, the loophole that the Estate wishes this Court to recognize simply does not exist. The Estate may not disregard TRUIRJCA § 301(c) when calculating its Idaho taxable income. This independent reason to affirm the District Court is explained below.

First, TRUIRJCA § 301(c) was classified as a "statutory note" to Title 26, U.S.C. Statutory notes are classified to the U.S. Code by the Office of Law Revision Counsel, as its "principal purpose [is] to develop and keep current an official and positive codification of the laws of the United States, 2 U.S.C. § 285a." Memo. Recon., R., p. 339. As the District Court held: Congress expressly and permissibly delegated to the Office of Law Revision Counsel the task of "classify[ing] newly enacted provisions of law to their proper positions in the [United States] Code where"—as here—"the titles involved have not yet been enacted into positive law. . . . 2 U.S.C. § 285b(4)." Memo. Recon., R., p. 339.

As the District Court held: "In that regard, the Estate introduced uncontested evidence that TRUIRJCA § 301(c), enacted by Congress in 2010, was classified by the Office of Law Revision Counsel of the United States House of Representatives as a 'statutory note' under 26 U.S.C. § 2001 (Seep Aff. ¶ 3), not as part of the section text of section 2001 or any other section of Title 26." Memo. Recon., R., pp. 338-39.

Thus, the District Court was correct when it held that "a federal statute becomes codified when it is placed in the United States Code, as either section text or a statutory note, by the Office of Law Revision Counsel, in executing its statutory duty to 'classify newly enacted provisions of law to their proper positions in the Code.' 2 U.S.C. § 285b(4). The judgment call it made here was to classify TRUIRJCA § 301(c) as a statutory note to 26 U.S.C. § 2001. The Office of Law Revision Counsel's decision in that regard settles whether TRUIRJCA § 301(c) is part of Title 26. It is part of Title 26." Memo. Recon., R., p. 346.

The Estate's own evidence affirms that TRUIRJCA § 301(c) is part of Title 26 as a statutory note. The Estate's "Affidavit of Ralph V. Seep," the Law Revision Counsel himself, establishes that TRUIRJCA § 301(c) is a provision of law classified to the United States Code as

a statutory note to 26 U.S.C. § 2001. *See* R., p. 40. And as the District Court noted, "the Estate has twice placed in the record an e-mail from Seep to the Estate's counsel, in which Seep states that the Office of Law Revision Counsel 'decided to place § 301(c) *in the United States Code* as a statutory note under 26 U.S.C. § 2001." Memo. Recon., R., pp. 341-42 (emphasis in original).

In sum, the Office of Law Revision Counsel codifies federal laws once the U.S. Congress enacts them. Statutory notes that are classified by the Office of Law Revision Counsel to a section of Title 26 are part of Title 26. TRUIRJCA § 301(c), though, not a part of the section text of Title 26, is part of Title 26 as a statutory note to 26 U.S.C § 2001.

Second, the "off-code" provision (TRUIRJCA § 301(c)) was incorporated into the Idaho Income Tax Act. As the District Court held: "[A]ny provision of Title 26 that was in effect on January 1, 2012, was incorporated into the Idaho Income Tax Act for the 2012 tax year." Memo. Recon., R., p. 346. The District Court explained:

"[T]he Idaho Income Tax Act defines 'taxable income' as 'federal taxable income as determined under the Internal Revenue Code.' I.C. § 63-3011B [I]t defines 'Internal Revenue Code,' for purposes of the 2012 tax year, as 'the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 of the United States, as amended and in effect on the first day of January 2012.' I.C. § 63-3004 (2012 version) [W]hen a term is not defined in the Idaho Income Tax Act, a Tax Commission regulation, IDAPA 35.01.01.010.08, adopts any definition of the term that is set forth in the Internal Revenue Code, particularly in Internal Revenue Code § 7701 (i.e., 26 U.S.C. § 7701). Section 7701 defines 'Internal Revenue Code of 1986' as 'this title,' meaning Title 26 of the United States Code. 26 U.S.C. § 7701(a)(29)."

Memo. Recon., R., p. 334 (emphasis in original). Accordingly, I.C. § 63-3004's conditions for incorporation are satisfied: TRUIRJCA § 301(c) is part of Title 26, and it was "in effect" on January 1, 2012.

The Estate argued below that that the Idaho legislature may not have intended to incorporate statutory notes. R., pp. 321-22. While, as the District Court held, "[i]t is true that the Idaho Income Tax Act itself doesn't use the term 'Title 26.' But, by virtue of IDAPA

35.01.01.010.08, which the Tax Commission adopted in 1997, the term 'Internal Revenue Code of 1986' means Title 26 for purposes of the Idaho Income Tax Act. The Tax Commission was authorized by the legislature to adopt that regulation. I.C. § 63-3039(1), (2)." Memo. Recon., R., p. 348. And the District Court was correct when it held that "the legislature, which can be presumed to know about the regulation and has unquestioned power to override it, hasn't exercised that power. The Estate identifies no grounds on which the Court could decline to enforce the regulation, the effect of which, as already explained, is to define the term 'Internal Revenue Code of 1986' in a way that encompasses statutory notes to Title 26." Memo. Recon., R., p. 348.

In conclusion, the so-called "off-code" provision here is not actually "off-code." A taxpayer's federal taxable income must be calculated to include the provisions of Title 26, U.S.C. The District Court was correct that the Estate is not entitled to calculate its federal taxable income for purposes of the Idaho Income Tax Act in a way that is different than when it reported its taxable income to the I.R.S.

IV. One of the key components of the Idaho Income Tax Act, that of having tax base conformity with federal taxable income, would be upset by the Estate's argument for allowing it to report disparate taxable income numbers to Idaho.

Of the 43 states that have some form of income tax, 35 of them use federal definitions of income as the starting point for calculating residents' taxable income. *See* Ruth Mason,

Delegating Up: State Conformity with the Federal Tax Base, 62 Duke L.J. 1267 (2013). As

⁴ See also, Harley T. Duncan, Relationships Between Federal and State Income Taxes, Fed'n of Tax Adm'rs (April 2005), available at: http://govinfo.library.unt.edu/taxreformpanel/meetings/pdf/incometax _04182005.pdf; see also, Knotty Problems in the Branches of the Federal Tree, Wm. & Mary Annual Tax Conference, Paper 633 (1967), available at: http://scholarship.law.wm.edu/tax/633.

explained above, Idaho is one of those 35 states that have elected to use federal definitions of income as the starting point for calculating residents' taxable income.

There are distinct benefits inuring to Idaho for having this type of income tax arrangement. Conformance with the federal definitions of income streamlines the administrative process for states. *See*, Heather M. Field, *Binding Choices: Tax Elections & Federal/state Conformity*, 32 Va. Tax Rev. 527 (2013). "[C]onformity allows states to rely on well-developed federal regulations, [Internal Revenue] Service guidance, and federal cases that interpret the relevant tax provisions." *Id.*, at 539. The simplification gained by conforming to the federal definitions of income has the added benefit of reducing the cost of administering a state's income tax program. *Id.*, at 538.

Taxpayers also benefit from conformance with the federal definitions of income. Without tax base conformity, a taxpayer would need to keep two sets of books and records for the purposes of completing their state and federal income taxes. Mason, *Delegating Up*, 62 Duke L.J. 1267. Conformance eliminates that need, which as a result lowers the cost to the taxpayer which in turn increases taxpayer voluntary compliance. *Id.*, at 1280. The easier and less complicated the income tax filing process is, the more likely an individual will voluntarily file their returns. *Id.* The risk of taxpayers making mistakes on their income tax returns is also reduced due to the fact that taxpayers do not need to calculate two separate computations for taxable income for both state and federal income tax purposes. *See*, *Binding Choices*, 32 Va. Tax Rev. 527 (2013).

Inversely, if a state were to diverge from the federal definitions of income it would face a whole host of difficulties and hurdles. *See* Daniel Shaviro, *An Economic and Political Look at Federalism in Taxation*, 90 Mich. L. Rev. 895, 921 (1992). In order to continue to administer its

instruct taxpayers and tax preparers on how to calculate Idaho taxable income. *Id.* Numerous new tax forms would need to be created and disseminated to taxpayers and tax preparers. *Id.*Taxpayers would be required to keep two separate sets of records for state and federal income tax purposes. *Id.* Ultimately, divergence from the federal definitions of income would dramatically increase the cost of administering that state's income tax program and would increase the burden on taxpayers and decrease their voluntary compliance. *Id.*

When the Estate asks this Court to disregard Idaho law and legislative intent and allow it to provide one sum on their federal income tax returns and a wholly different sum on their Idaho income tax returns, it is not doing so in a vacuum. If this Court finds in favor of the Estate, that finding would affect all the income taxpayers in the State of Idaho. Not only would that finding be setting a precedent which is directly contradictory to legislative intent and case law; but it would also have the effect of requiring the Commission to alter the way it administers the Idaho Income Tax Act. The cost to the State of Idaho for the administration of the Idaho Income Tax Act would rise for the foreseeable future. The income tax filing process would be complicated and burdensome to Idaho taxpayers which would ultimately lead to decreased voluntary compliance.

There may be some disadvantages of having Idaho's tax system conform to the federal one; but whether Idaho *should* have a tax base conformity arrangement is not the question on appeal. The courts have no authority to rewrite the tax code. *Idaho State Tax Comm'n v. Stang*, 135 Idaho at 802-03, 25 P.3d at 115-16 (2001) (citing *Bogner v. State Dep't of Revenue and Taxation*, 107 Idaho 854, 693 P.2d 1056 (1984)). If the provisions of the tax code are unsound, the power to correct it is legislative, not judicial. *Stang*, 135 Idaho at 803. Likewise, when a

statute is unambiguous, the courts' duty is to "follow the law as written." *John Hancock Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Neill*, 79 Idaho 385, 405, 319 P.2d 195, 206 (1957). Even if a law is "socially or economically unsound, the power to correct it is legislative, not judicial." *Id*.

In the end, the point of this appeal is not to debate the relative merits of tax base conformity. There is sound policy for having tax base conformity in Idaho. The point is that the Estate's argument *ignores* the legislative intent of having tax base conformity in Idaho. Thus, the Estate's argument should not stand. The District Court should be affirmed in its holding that the Estate should not be allowed to report incongruent taxable income numbers to Idaho.

V. The Estate is not entitled to attorney fees on appeal.

The Estate requests attorney fees on appeal pursuant to Idaho Code § 63-3049(d) and Rules 40 and 41 of the Idaho Appellate Rules. App. Brief, p. 10.

Idaho Code § 63-3049(d) reads in pertinent part: "[w]henever it appears to the court that: (1) Proceedings before it have been instituted or maintained by a party primarily for delay; or (2) A party's position in such proceeding is frivolous or groundless; . . . the court, in its discretion, may require the party which did not prevail to pay to the prevailing party costs, expenses and attorney's fees." I.C. § 63-3049(d).

In its brief, the Estate offers no legal support and no argument that this appeal was maintained for purposes of delay, nor that the Commission's position in this proceeding was frivolous or groundless. Likewise, the Estate has offered no legal support and no argument that the Commission acted unreasonably in any way. I.C. § 63-3049(d).

Idaho Appellate Rule 35(a)(5) requires a proponent for attorney fees on appeal to provide a statement of the basis for such an award of attorney fees. A party *waives* its entitlement to attorney fees on appeal when its brief fails to provide either authority or argument in support of

the issue. Young Electric Sign Co. v. State ex rel. Winder, 135 Idaho 804, 810, 25 P.3d 117, 123 (2001) (quoting State v. Zichko, 129 Idaho 259, 263, 923 P.2d 966, 967 (1996)).

Because the Estate has failed to provide any authority or any argument in support of its request for attorney fees on appeal, the Estate has waived any entitlement to attorney fees, and its request should be denied absolutely.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the orders of the District Court granting summary judgment to the Tax Commission, should be affirmed.